1991

# Jodie Dahl v. Kerbs Construction Corp. and Epstein Construction, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT**

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Supreme Court under Article VII, Section 3, of the Utah Constitution; UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(i); and Rule 5, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, this being a discretionary appeal from an interlocutory ruling of the District Court.

### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Did the District Court err in failing to include Plaintiff's employer on the Special Jury Verdict Form for purposes of apportioning its fault with reference to the subject accident?

### **DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES**

The following statutes and rules are believed to be determinative of the issue presented above:

UTAH CODE ANN., § 35-1-60 (1990);

UTAH CODE ANN., §§ 78-27-37, *et. seq.* (1990);

Rule 49, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The contents of the above-cited authorities are fully set forth in the Addendum to this brief, in accord with Rule 24(f), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceeding and Disposition in the Lower Court.**

Plaintiff, Jodie Dahl, commenced this action, seeking recovery for personal injuries allegedly sustained when tripping over a trench cut in the concrete floor at her place of employment, the Albertsons Distribution Center in North Salt Lake, Utah. Named as Defendants were Epstein Construction, Inc., the construction manager for the project, and Kerbs Construction Corp., a subcontractor who was directly responsible for cutting the subject trench. (Record 1-2).

In addition to denying specific allegations of the Complaint, the Defendants affirmatively alleged contributory negligence on Plaintiff's part and also comparative negligence on the part of her employer, Albertsons. (R.13-17). A Cross-Claim was also brought by Epstein against Kerbs, seeking indemnity and insurance coverage for any judgment rendered against it in Plaintiff's favor, pursuant to the terms of the construction contract between those parties. (R. 103-111).

Facts uncovered during the course of discovery supported the principle that Albertsons subjected its employees to hazards associated with the construction work by having them perform tasks in the area of on-going construction. As a result of this evidence of comparative negligence, Epstein filed a Motion to Include

Albertsons on the special verdict form. (R. 565). Shortly thereafter, Defendant Kerbs joined in such motion, which was initially granted by District Judge Cornaby. (R. 701). However, upon a review of the issue in the context of Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, Judge Cornaby reversed his earlier determination and refused to permit the negligence of Albertsons to be assessed by the jury. (R. 749-750).

Following Judge Cornaby's refusal to certify the decision as a final judgment, pursuant to the provisions of Rule 54(b), Epstein and Kerbs sought review through a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal, which was granted by Order of the Supreme Court on November 12, 1991. Due to the importance of the issue to be resolved through this appeal, trial of the District Court case, originally set for December 12, 1991, has been stayed on motion of the Defendants. (R. 978-979 and 982-983).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

During the month of February, 1989, and periods prior thereto, Epstein Construction acted as a construction manager with respect to a remodelling project at Albertsons' North Salt Lake City Distribution Center. Among the remodelling work to be performed under the parties' contract was the installation of new banana storage rooms. (R. 265). Epstein let a subcontract to Kerbs Construction under which they saw-cut a trench in the concrete

floor of the Distribution Center for purposes of placing utility lines and the banana room walls. (R. 266).

While construction was being performed and after the trench had been cut, Albertsons continued to require employees to perform tasks in the area immediately adjacent to the construction vicinity. In the course of a day, employees would regularly traverse the floor slot. (R. 522). The decision to place workers in the potentially hazardous construction area was made by Frank Payan, Albertsons' warehouse manager. (R. 524). In fact, so as to allow employees to work in the construction area, Albertsons specifically precluded the contractors from taking protective measures, including to barricade the subject trench. (R. 588). Even workers' complaints as to the hazards associated with working in the area were ignored by the employer. Plaintiff testified that her supervisor responded to a complaint by stating "You guys quit your bitching and get your asses over there and get to work." (R. 883).

On February 14, 1989, Plaintiff fell backward over the trench, suffering the injuries complained of in these proceedings. Plaintiff alleges that as a result of the accident, she suffered a herniated disk and other physical complications. (R. 2). It is undisputed that Plaintiff received workers compensation benefits for her injuries. (R. 3).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The District Court found the legal position of the Plaintiff "appears more reasonable" and, hence, excluded Albertsons, her employer, from the special verdict form. Contrary to the Court's ruling, such is neither the majority rule nor better reasoned law. Rather, it is violative of the sound equitable principle of holding a defendant accountable for only its proportionate share of fault, particularly as expressed in Utah comparative negligence statutes. The District Judge's ruling was erroneous and Albertsons must be included on the special verdict form to reach a well-considered judgment in this action.

### ARGUMENT

#### Introduction

Undisputed evidence in our case indicates Albertsons knowingly exposed employees to a potentially dangerous condition, resulting from remodeling work being performed at its Distribution Warehouse and refused to permit the contractors to take preventive measures. Despite workers' complaints, Albertsons supervisors ordered Jodie Dahl to perform work tasks immediately adjacent to an uncovered cut in the concrete floor. Accepting the truth of Plaintiff's allegations, working in this area caused her to accidentally trip and fall over the slot, sustaining the complained of injuries. Hence, this is not an instance where the Defendants

are merely trying to cloud the issue of their negligence. Instead, there is substantial evidence of fault here on the employer's part making this an appropriate case to address the issue. Nonetheless, due to the Court's ruling on the motion to include Albertsons on the jury verdict form, Defendants/Appellants Epstein and Kerbs face possible liability for a judgment far in excess of their proportionate degree of fault. This is a result incompatible with Utah's comparative negligence scheme and sound policy considerations as well.

As a case of first impression in the appellate system, the Supreme Court should review this matter and find that an employer's negligence can be determined by the trier-of-fact when entering a judgment in proceedings such as these.

**A. Utah's Comparative Negligence  
Statute Mandates the Inclusion of  
An Employer on a Special Verdict Form**

There is little question that an employer owes employees a duty to provide a reasonably safe and hazard-free workplace. Godesky v. Provo City Corp., 690 P.2d 541 (Utah 1984). There is likewise little doubt that an employer may breach the aforementioned duty, and, hence, be held accountable for negligence. However, in order to strike a balance in favor of compensating employees for work-related injuries, the Legislature has granted employers immunity from negligence actions, so long as

the employer has complied with obligations imposed under the Utah Worker's Compensation Act, codified at UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-60.

Immunity granted under the Worker's Compensation Act has been extended to claims of contribution and implied indemnity in third-party actions brought by non-employer defendants when sued by the injured employee. See, generally, Freund v. Utah Power & Light Co., 793 P.2d 362 (Utah 1990). The important question raised by this appeal is whether the employers' immunity and consequential non-joinder as a party tort-feasor precludes an apportionment of their fault under Utah's comparative negligence scheme and special verdict provisions. It is respectfully urged that such apportionment is not contrary to the Worker's Compensation Act, but is mandated and entirely consistent with tort reform principles adopted in Utah.

The sound underlying principle of comparative negligence in Utah is announced in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-27-40, which provides:

Subject to § 78-27-38, the maximum amount for which a defendant may be liable to any person seeking recovery is that percentage or proportion of the damages equivalent to the percentage or proportion of fault attributed to that defendant. No defendant is entitled to contribution from any other person.

Furthermore, § 78-27-38 states ". . . No defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportionate of fault attributable to that defendant." In order

to determine a defendant's 'proportion of fault', the Act relies on the use of special verdicts which find "the percentage or proportion of fault attributable to each person seeking relief and to each defendant". § 78-27-39 (Emphasis added).

Based on the special verdict statute, Respondent argued successfully in the District Court that because Albertsons, the employer, cannot be made a party-defendant, it likewise cannot be placed on the special verdict form for purposes of determining its percentage of fault. This proposition is contrary to Utah law and a majority of other jurisdictions.

While not passing on the precise issue presented here, the Utah Supreme Court has, on a number of occasions, allowed the jury's consideration of a non-party's negligence. For instance, in Godesky v. Provo City Corp., *supra*, the court let stand, without express comment, the jury finding that the employer was negligent and proportionately responsible for causing the accident. Similarly, in Bishop v. Neilsen, 632 P.2d 864 (Utah 1981), the court permitted contribution against an arguably immune party, finding it a "joint tort-feasor". Also instructive is the case of Madsen v. Salt Lake City School Board, 645 P.2d 658, 663 (Utah 1982), where this court stated:

It is imperative that the issue of proportionate fault should be litigated between all joint tort-feasors in the same



action and resolved by the same trier of the issues of fact.

This was despite the fact the joint tort-feasor was an immune governmental entity.

The import of the foregoing authority is that regardless of possible immunity, defendants joined in the action are entitled to a determination of a joint tort-feasor's fault so that party-defendants are only liable for their percentage of negligence.<sup>1</sup> Although the Utah Supreme Court has not directly ruled on this issue in the context of an employer, the clear weight of authority from other jurisdictions has extended general comparative negligence principles to entities situated as Albertsons.

One of the first cases addressing the issue of apportioning an immune employer's negligence on a jury verdict form is Connar v. West Shore Equipment of Milwaukee, Inc., 227 N.W. 2d 660, 662 (Wisconsin 1975).

It is established without doubt that, when apportioning negligence, a jury must have the opportunity to consider the negligence of all parties to the transaction, whether or not

---

<sup>1</sup>This is a position which has been adopted by the Utah Attorney General's office. In response to an inquiry from Federal Magistrate Calvin Gould, in the context of a case entitled Yantes v. Signode Corp., Civil No. 89 NC 0055-S, the Attorney General's office stated "the immunity of an employer is in no way impaired by being joined for the purposes of apportioning fault." See, Appendix B hereto. It is also the opinion adopted by numerous federal and state district court judges from Utah. See various orders and ruling gathered at Appendix B.

they be parties to the lawsuit and whether or not they can be liable to the Plaintiff or to the other tort-feasors, either by operation of law or because of a prior release.

Referring to this Wisconsin rule as being "clearly the prevalent practice among state courts", the Idaho Supreme Court, in Pocatello Industrial Park Co. v. Steel West, Inc., 621 P.2d 399, 403 (Idaho 1980), construed a comparative negligence special verdict statute almost identical to Utah's:

The court may, and when requested by any party, shall, direct the jury to find separate special verdicts determining the amount of damages and the percentage of negligence attributable to each party . . . I.C. §6-802.

Acknowledging that the employer could not be made a "party" to the proceedings, the court, nonetheless, held its negligence should be apportioned by the jury.

While the statute requires the parties be included in the special verdict, it does not state that only parties shall be included. 661 P.2d. 403.<sup>2</sup>

Among other states which have allowed an apportionment of fault, in the context of comparative negligence of an otherwise immune entity or non-party are: Wyoming, Kirby Building Systems v. Mineral Explorations, 704 P.2d 1266, 1272 (Wyo. 1985) ("The

---

<sup>2</sup>At least one commentator has noted that the Utah comparative negligence statute is almost identical to the Idaho Act construed in Pocatello Industrial Park. See, Thode, *Comparative Negligence, Contribution Among Tort-Feasors and the Effect of a Release - a Triple Play by the Utah Legislature*, 1973 UTAH L. REV. 406 (1973).

requirement that all participants' fault be ascertained means that the fault of non-party actors, as well as party tort-feasors, must be calculated by the fact finder."); Kansas, Brown v. Keill, 580 P.2d 867 (Kan. 1978); Indiana, Huber v. Henley, 656 F. Supp. 508 (S.D. Ind. 1987) (Immune governmental entities' fault must be apportioned by jury under Indiana's comparative negligence statutes); North Carolina, Leonard v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 305 S.E.2d 528 (N.C. 1983); Illinois, Hall v. Archer-Daniels-Midland Co., 491 N.E.2d 879 (Ill. App. 1986); and, New Mexico, Taylor v. Delgarno Transportation, Inc., 667 P.2d 445 (N.M. 1983).

The more recent trend of apportioning the negligence of an immune employer in a third-party action instituted by an employee was expressly adopted by California courts in Mills v. MMM Carpets, Inc., 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d 813 (Cal. App. 6th 1991). There, a bank employee sought recovery for personal injuries from a building manager and owner and a carpet installer. The court held apportionment of the employer's negligence did not run afoul of the employer's general immunity from tort liability. Id. at 818. In construing the statute (CAL. CIV. CODE § 1431.2 (A)) which read, quite like Utah's,

Each defendant shall be liable only for the amount of non-economic damages allocated to that defendant in direct proportion to that defendant's percentage of fault.

the court held the equation "does not vary according to the presence or absence as parties of other tort-feasors in a given case . . . . It instead most readily suggests comparison with the fault of the entire field of tort-feasors." 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 816-817.

Although contribution against an employer was commonly rejected prior to passage of pure comparative negligence laws, most states still permit an allocation of the employer's fault. For instance, in the recent case of Williams v. White Mountain Construction Co., 749 P.2d 423, 429 (Colo. 1988), the Colorado Supreme Court disallowed contribution, yet held:

Tort-feasors sued by injured employees are now able to present evidence of employer liability at trial, so as to reduce whatever damages may be assessed against them to a level proportionate to their liability.

In Clark v. Pacificorp, 809 P.2d 176 (Wash. 1991), the appeal of a state court action and a question certified from the federal court were consolidated. At issue was RCW 4.22.070(1), which provided:

In all actions involving fault of more than entity, the trier of fact shall determine the percentage of the total fault which is attributable to every entity which caused the claimant's damages, including the claimant . . . third-party defendants . . . [and] entities immune from liability.

In the primary case, Clark had filed a wrongful death action against Pacificorp, who had hired the decedent's employer to trim trees away from power lines. Under the Washington Worker's Compensation Act, the employer was immune from liability and could not be named as a party to the action. Pacificorp sought a determination of the employer's comparative negligence and corresponding reduction of damages. Under those circumstances, identical to ours, the court held:

A trier of fact shall apportion fault to all at-fault entities in accordance with RCW 4.22.070. This includes the injured worker or beneficiary, the employer and the third-party. Each party shall then pay his proportionate share of damages.

Id. at 179. (Emphasis added). Cf. Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co., 652 P.2d 948, 953 (Wash. 1982) (Contribution claim against employer barred prior to enactment of the comparative negligence statute "even though requiring one wrong-doer to shoulder all the damages when the other wrong-doer is an employer may be unfair . . . ").

The Utah special verdict statute can be construed to exclude consideration of an employer's negligence, arguably applying only to "each person seeking recovery and to each defendant". UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-27-39. But, as the Idaho court found in Pocatello Industrial Park, the statute "does not state that only parties shall be included". 621 P.2d 403. Furthermore, the key phrase

"person seeking recovery" in the special verdict statute is sufficiently broad to encompass employers.

Per UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-27-37(3), "persons seeking recovery" are those "seeking damages or reimbursement on its own behalf, or on behalf on another for whom it is authorized to act as legal representative". (Emphasis added.) Under the Utah Worker's Compensation Act, an employer is the "trustee of the cause of action against the third party" and may maintain an action on its own behalf or in the name of the injured employee. UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-62. The statute goes on to provide that the employer will be reimbursed for compensation payments even before an injured employee recovers. As such, the employer is a person seeking recovery under § 78-27-39, who should be included on the special verdict form.

**B. Considerations of Equity and  
Fairness Require an Employer's  
Negligence to Be Apportioned.**

One of the acknowledged purposes of comparative negligence is to ameliorate the harsh consequences of traditional contributory negligence and joint and several liability among defendants. See, generally, Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 679 P.2d 903 (Utah 1984). Appellants Epstein and Kerbs face a strong possibility that if Albertsons' degree of fault is not taken into account by the jury, they will be liable for a disproportionate

percentage of responsibility as joint tort-feasors. The appropriate means of remedying this unheralded result is to overrule Judge Cornaby's decision.

Recognition of the salutary purpose expressed above is essential in construing the special verdict statute. See, Mills v. MMM Carpets, supra. As in Mills, the result here sought by Plaintiff and "adopted by the trial court would re-write the statute to provide that the Defendants' percentage of fault was to be measured in relation to the fault of only other Defendants in the action. The statutory language does not invoke such a limited comparison." 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d 817.

In the Kansas case of Brown v. Keill, supra, the court addressed the argument that apportioning a non-parties' negligence would be unfair to a plaintiff. The argument was rejected, in part, realizing that by enacting comparative negligence statutes, legislatures had relieved plaintiffs of the potentially harsh all-or-nothing recovery notions which result from contributory negligence rules. In essence, the burden and potential unfairness of contesting a non-party's responsibility is offset by eliminating the risk of non-recovery existing under contributory negligence. The court went on to acknowledge "the law governing tort liability will never be a panacea." Id. at 874. With this in mind, the legislature's intent in adopting comparative negligence was to

relay duty to pay to the degree of fault. Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., supra. The only means of fulfilling this purpose in our circumstances is to permit a jury to determine the employer's fault, through the special verdict, which will leave Appellants Epstein and Kerbs responsible for only their respective percentages of fault.

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