1991

Jodie Dahl v. Kerbs Construction Corp., and Epstein Construction, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no conflict between the plain language of Utah's Comparative Negligence Statutes and the Utah's Worker's Compensation Act. The former expressly and repeatedly

excludes employers from inclusion as parties defendant and from inclusion on special verdict forms for purposes of fault determination. The Comparative Negligence Statutes also expressly recognize the statutory immunity from liability of employers under the Utah's Worker's Compensation Act.

By recognizing an employer's immunity from suit and from apportionment of fault in the Comparative Fault statutes, our legislature has determined that the strong policies underlying the Worker's Compensation Act merit the immunity given to employers. To adopt Appellants' position would not only result in a judicial rewriting of these statutes, but would undermine the purposes of the Worker's Compensation Act and the manner in which employers function under it.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF SECTIONS 78-27-39 AND 43, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, AS AMENDED, PRECLUDES A NON-DEFENDANT FROM BEING INCLUDED ON A SPECIAL VERDICT FORM FOR PURPOSES OF APPOINTING FAULT.

Utah's Comparative Fault Statutes, Sections 78-27-37 through 43, Utah Code Annotated, as amended, set forth a tightly worded scheme by which the comparative fault of defendants, and only defendants, may be assessed (emphasis added). Section 78-27-37 defines a "defendant" as "any person not immune from suit..." (emphasis added). Section 78-27-38

provides that no defendant is liable in excess of the proportion of fault of that defendant (emphasis added).

Section 78-27-39 provides:

The trial court may, and when requested by any party shall, direct the jury, if any, to find separate special verdicts determining the total amount of damages sustained and the percentage or proportion of fault attributable to each person seeking recovery and to each defendant, (emphasis added).

It is a general principle of statutory construction that, unless technical terms are used, words employed in a statute must be given their usual and ordinary meaning. Cache Auto Co. v. Central Garage, 63 Utah 10, 221 P.862 (1923). In construing a statute, all words are presumed to have been used advisedly. Pate v. Marathon Steel Co., 777 P.2d 428 (Utah 1989).

Appellants' argue that there is some form of inequity in the Comparative Fault Statutes and some perceived conflict with the Worker's Compensation Act. They concede that the plain language of the Comparative Fault Statutes limits special verdict forms to apportionment of fault among plaintiff and defendants, but argue that this was not really the intended result. However, "the best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the Legislature in enacting the Act is the plain language of the Act," Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 679 P.2d 903 (Utah 1984).

Section 35-1-60, Utah Code Annotated, as amended,

provides that "...no action at law may be maintained against an employer... based upon any accident, injury or death of any employee." This immunity from suit is recognized explicitly in Section 78-27-43, which provides:

Nothing in Sections 78-27-37 through 78-27-42 affects or impairs any common law or statutory immunity from liability, including, but not limited to... the exclusive remedy provisions of Chapter 1, Title 35...(emphasis added).

Thus, what our legislature has done in creating the scheme of our Comparative Fault Statutes, is provide for apportionment of fault among those persons or entities who can be sued as defendants. Liability is no longer joint and several; it is apportioned. But employers are excluded expressly and repeatedly from this apportionment because of the strong policies underlying the no-fault theory of worker's compensation, as will be more fully argued under Point III below. Since Albertsons is immune from suit under Sections 78-27-43, and 35-1-60, it cannot be a defendant, and hence cannot be included on a special verdict form.

Additionally, Section 78-27-41 provides:

A person seeking recovery, or any defendant who is a party to the litigation, may join as parties any defendants who may have caused or contributed to the injury or damage for which recovery is sought, for the purpose of having determined their respective proportions of fault. (emphasis added).

Given this specific statute, if the Legislature had intended

to allow inclusion of immune employers on the special verdict forms, it would have stated so explicitly.

Appellants rely principally on case law from Idaho and Wisconsin, claiming that Utah's Comparative Fault Statute is modeled after the statutory schemes of those states. Utah's Comparative Negligence Act was adopted in 1973, and the cases cited by Appellants from the other jurisdictions were decided subsequent to that date [Beringer v. State, 727 P.2d 1222 (Idaho 1986) (Kerbs's Brief, at p.17); Pocatello Industrial Park Company v. Steel West, Inc., 101 Idaho 783, 621 P.2d 399 (1980) (Kerbs's Brief, at p.16 and Epstein's Brief at pp.10,13); Connar v. West Shore Equipment of Milwaukee, Inc., 227 N.W.2d 660 (Wis. 1975) (Epstein's Brief, at p.9)]. However, in Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 679 P.2d 903 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court held that the presumption that the Legislature intended to adopt Idaho's judicial interpretations along with its Comparative Negligence Statute, does not apply to Idaho court decisions subsequent to the 1973 date of adoption. 679 P.2d 903, at 905.

Furthermore, Utah's Comparative Negligence Act was repealed in 1986, and replaced with the Liability Reform Act, current Section 78-27-37 through 43. Stephens v. Henderson, 741 P.2d 952 (Utah 1987). The Liability Reform Act's language changed the wording concerning who could be included on

special verdict forms from determining the negligence of "each party" (language of the former Comparative Negligence Act) to determining "the percentage or proportion of fault attributable to... each defendant." By changing this wording, the Legislature has evidenced an intent to include only plaintiffs and defendants on the special verdict form, and any Idaho judicial interpretations may and should be disregarded. Jensen, supra.

Other courts have interpreted their comparative fault or negligence statutes in this manner. In Warmbradt v. Blanchard, 692 P.2d 1282 (Nev. 1984), the Nevada Supreme Court observed that where the plain language of the comparative negligence statute required apportioning liability "among the defendants" and returning a special verdict indicating the percentage of negligence "attributable to each party", no reference was made to the negligence of other possible persons or entities. The court held that the jury should not have been instructed to consider the negligence of one who was neither a defendant nor a party.

In Mihoy v. Proulx, 113 N.H.698, 313 A.2d 723 (1973), the New Hampshire Supreme Court noted that their statute spoke only in terms of actual defendants, and not in terms of other tortfeasors who were potential defendants, but immune because of a covenant not to sue. This court held that, under those circumstances, the defendant may not implead

a third party as codefendant for purposes of apportioning liability. It is submitted that a tortfeasor who is protected by a covenant not to sue is analogous to an employer granted immunity by the Worker's Compensation Act.

In Kelly v. Carborundum Company, 453 A.2d 624 (Pa. Super. 1982), the Superior Court of Pennsylvania held, in an action by an employee against a third-party tortfeasor, that the employer could not be joined either as an additional defendant or as an involuntary plaintiff for purposes of apportioning fault under Pennsylvania's Comparative Negligence Act, which provided:

...[w]here recovery is allowed against more than one defendant, each defendant shall be liable for proportion of the total dollar amount awarded as damages in the ratio of the amount of his causal negligence to the amount of causal negligence attributed to all defendants against whom recovery is allowed... 42 Pa.C.S.A. Section 7102. 453 A.2d 624, at 627.

The Pennsylvania Superior Court held:

Contrary to the premise for appellant's argument, this statute does not provide for apportionment among all tortfeasors causally responsible for an injury. "It merely provides for apportionment among those defendants against whom recovery is allowed. There is no suggestion in that statute that all possible tortfeasors be brought into court, and certainly no requirement that this be done to achieve the purposes of the act. The trier of fact is simply to apportion liability on a percentage basis among those defendants on the record against whom recovery is allowed..."

[citation omitted]. We observed in Heckendorn, and repeat here, that under existing law, an employer is not a defendant "against whom recovery is allowed." 453 A.2d 624, at 627 (emphasis added).

The Pennsylvania Superior Court had already held, in Heckendorn v. Consolidated Rail Corporation, 293 Pa. Super 474, 439 A.2d 674 (1982), that an employer who accepts the responsibility of providing worker's compensation benefits is not a party whose negligence is to be included in the apportionment required by the Comparative Negligence Law. The Kelly court then held:

It seems clear, therefore, that substantive law precludes the joinder of an employer for the purpose of determining fault in an action commenced by an employee against a third person. 453 A.2d, 624, at 627.

This reasoning is applicable equally to Utah's current statutory scheme.

In Mills v. Brown, 735 P.2d 603 (Ore. 1987), The Oregon Supreme Court interpreted its comparative negligence statute, which provided for special verdicts determining the "degree of each party's fault expressed as a percentage of the total fault attributable to all parties represented in the action." The court confined the determination to the actual named parties, relying on the plain language of the Oregon statute. In so holding, the Oregon Supreme Court declined to follow the reasoning of the following cases cited by

Appellants: Connar v. West Shore Equipment of Milwaukee, 68 Wis.2d 42, 227 N.W.2d 660 (1975) (Epstein's Brief at p.9); Pocatello Industrial Park Co. v. Steel West, Inc., 101 Idaho 783, 621 P.2d 399 (1980) (Kerbs's Brief at p.16; Epstein's Brief at pp.10,13); Brown v. Keill, 224 Kan. 195, 580 P.2d 867 (1978) (Epstein's Brief at pp.11,15).

Most of the cases cited by Appellants do not actually support their position that Utah's statutes require an immune employer's include on the special verdict form. Appellants' cited cases fall into the following five categories:

(1) The statutory language being construed expressly directed the inclusion of immune employers: Williams v. White Mountain Construction Company, 749 P.2d 423 (Colo. 1988), see excerpts from Section 13-21-111.5(1), 6A C.R.S. (1987) in Addendum; Dietz v. General Electric Company, 821 P.2d 166 (Ariz. 1991), A.R.S. Section 12-2506, requiring considering fault of "all persons who have contributed to the alleged injury... regardless of whether the person was, or could have been, named as a party to the suit..." and that percentage of fault assessed against such "nonparties are used only as a vehicle for accurately determining the fault of the named parties..."; Leonard v. Johns Manville Sales Corp., 305 S.E.2d 528 (N.C. 1983), N.C.G.S. 97-10.2 expressly allows for inclusion of immune employer and permits employer to defend;

Clark v. Pacificorp., 116 Wash.2d 804, 809 P.2d 176 (1991), RCW 4.22.070: "In all actions involving fault of more than one entity, the trier of fact shall determine the percentage of the total fault which is attributable to every entity which caused the claimant's damages, including the claimant... third party defendants... [and] entities immune from liability." (emphasis added). In these cases, the various courts were construing plain language conspicuously absent from and different than the relevant Utah statutes.

(2) The statutory language expressly disallowed inclusion of employers: Huber v. Henley, 656 F.Supp. 508 (S.D. Ind. 1987). In this case, the issue was inclusion of a subdivision of the state, not otherwise immune, but against which the statute of limitations had run. The relevant Indiana statute permitted joinder of a "nonparty" to determine comparative fault. Indiana Code 34-4-2(a) provided:

"Nonparty" means a person who is, or may be, liable to the claimant in part or in whole for the damages claimed but who has not been joined in the action as a defendant by the claimant. A nonparty shall not include the employer of the claimant. (emphasis added).

(3) Cases in which the decision did not deal with the issue of inclusion of an employer: Kirby Building Systems v. Mineral Explorations, 704 P.2d 1266 (Wyo. 1985). This was a business tort case, but in discussing the statutes, the court noted that Wyoming's comparative negligence statute

allowed joinder of anyone against whom plaintiff could seek judgment. In Utah, this would not include an employer.

(4) Cases in which ambiguities in that state's comparative negligence statute only were resolved by judicial decisions permitting inclusion of an employer, without a discussion of the immunity issue: Pape v. Kansas Power & Light Co., 231 Kan. 441, 647 P.2d 320 (1982); Taylor v. Delgarno, 100 N.M. 138, 667 P.2d 445 (1983); Hall v. Archer-Daniels-Midland Co., 142 Ill. App.3d 200, 491 N.E.2d 879 (1986).

(5) Cases which allow consideration of an employer's fault, but with statutory language greatly different from Utah's: Connar v. West Shore Equipment of Milwaukee, Inc., 227 N.W.2d 660 (Wis. 1975); Bode v. Clark Equipment Co., 719 P.2d 824 (Okla. 1986).

In none of the cited cases in Appellants' Briefs is there a statutory scheme similar to Sections 78-27-37 through 43. All of the Appellants' cited cases in (3) through (5) of Appellee's five designated categories, dealt with the issue of permitting third party claims of contribution from negligent employers under state comparative negligence statutes. As noted by the Supreme Court of Colorado in Williams v. White Mountain Construction Company, supra, the great majority does not permit a claim for contribution against the employer:

...In states with statutory schemes similar to that of Colorado, the majority

rule is to prohibit such claims. This rule fulfills the twin public policy goals of speedy, predictable determination of job-related injuries and a reluctance to create a judicial remedy that invades the province of the legislature. 749 P.2d 423, at 428.

In footnote 5 of Williams, the Colorado Supreme Court mentions that this is the rule in the federal courts and in thirty-four states. See also, Annotation, Modern Status of Effect of State Workmen's Compensation Act on Right of Third-Person Tortfeasor to Contribution or Indemnity from Employer of Injured or Killed Workman, 100 A.L.R.3d 350, 356-364 (1980).

Thus, the cases cited by Appellants are, largely, distinguishable, and those few supporting their position are clearly the minority viewpoint. Even among those few, the statutory scheme is different from Utah's. Our legislature did not intend the inclusion of employers on the special verdict forms.

POINT II: APPELLEE'S EMPLOYER'S (ALBERTSONS)
IMMUNITY THROUGH WORKER'S COMPENSATION
PAYMENTS EXTENDS TO THE APPORTIONMENT OF
FAULT.

Ms. Dahl received worker's compensation benefits for her injuries. Nothing in Utah's Comparative Fault Statutes "affects or impairs any... statutory immunity from liability, including... the exclusive remedy provisions of Chapter 1, Title 35." Section 78-27-43.

Section 35-1-60 provides:

The right to recover compensation pursuant to the provisions of this title for injuries sustained by an employee... shall be the exclusive remedy against the employer... and the liabilities of the employer imposed by this act shall be in place of any and all other civil liability whatsoever.

See also, Pate v. Marathon Steel Co., 777 P.2d 428 (Utah 1989). It is submitted that the Liability Reform Act of 1986 does not affect Albertson's immunity, and that this extends to liability from apportionment of fault.

Courts of other states have so held. In Cordier v. Stetson-Ross, Inc., 704 P.2d 86 (Mont. 1979), the Montana Supreme Court followed the majority rule and held that an employer, immune from liability under worker's compensation statutes, is not liable to a third party for contribution. The court relied on Montana's worker's compensation statutes, which are similar to Utah's:

It is the intent and purpose of the Worker's Compensation Act that the right of action against a responsible third party belongs to the employee. Consequently, it is uniformly held that the employer's contributory negligence may not be used as a defense in an action by the injured employee against the responsible party...

Therefore, under the Montana scheme, the negligence, if any, of the employer (but not of the employee himself) never becomes an issue in the injured employee's action against a responsible third party. His right to recover damages is determined without reference to his employer's negligence...

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